ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
OCT 21 2013
SC COURT of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

HENRY GRAY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-209426

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting gruesome autopsy photographs that were unnecessary to prove any contested fact and which unduly prejudiced appellant?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to give an involuntary manslaughter charge because evidence showed that the decedent's death could have been the result of a trivial fight?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 10, 2010, appellant Henry Gray (“Gray”) was indicted in Richland County for lynching, first degree. On October 5, 2011, he was also indicted for murder. On February 28 – March 2, 2012, Gray was tried before the Honorable Thomas G. Cooper, Jr. and a jury. R. 1.

Gray was tried together with his sister, Robin Gray Reese (“Reese”). R. 1. Appellant Gray was represented by Mathias Chaplin. R. 1. Reese was represented by Andrew Farley. R. 1. Luck Campbell, April Sampson, and Nicole Simpson represented the State. R. 1. The jury convicted Gray and Reese on both counts. R. 909 1, l. 17 – 910, l. 12. The trial judge sentenced Gray to thirty years’ imprisonment on both charges, to run concurrently. R. 918, ll. 11 – 17. On March 5, 2012, Gray served his notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in admitting gruesome autopsy photographs that were unnecessary to prove any contested fact and which unduly prejudiced appellant.

Relevant Facts

Introduction

On February 13, 2010, Kenneth Mack (“Mack”) died at the Gonzales Gardens apartments in Columbia. Multiple purported eyewitnesses testified about the events preceding Mack’s death. Two eyewitnesses who had no connection to Gonzales Gardens testified that Mack was severely beaten by a group of men near a convenience store at the edge of the apartment complex. Marcellius Brooks, a resident of Gonzales Gardens whose nickname is “Bloom,” admitting attacking Mack and was charged with his murder. R. 392, ll. 13 – 18; R. 398, ll. 4 – 19; R. 414, ll. 6 – 14. No evidence showed Gray or co-defendant Robin Reese participated in this beating. Several women who lived in Gonzales Gardens and were connected to Bloom testified they saw a second beating of Mack in between two buildings in Gonzales Gardens that involved Gray and Reese. Bloom was not tried with Gray and Reese and his charges were pending during their trial. R. 414, ll. 12 – 14. A summary of this testimony follows.

The Disinterested Witnesses

Amber Hardy (“Hardy”) managed a pharmacy near Gonzales Gardens. R. 313, l. 23 – 314, l. 14. She was in her car following a shoplifter when she witnessed a fight near a convenience store on McDuffie Street. R. 314, ll. 20 – 315, l. 13. Hardy saw four or five males and one female attacking another male, who turned out to be Mack. R.

315, l. 23 – 316, ll. 7. The mob took turns beating Mack. R. 316, ll. 8 – 10. The beating was “brutal.” R.319, ll. 20 – 22. The men “were just taking turns and he would fall and they would kick him and punch him and like karate kicks like you a break a board in half.” R. 322, ll. 11 – 16. Mack was “kicked everywhere,” including his head. R. 328, ll. 4 – 6. Hardy saw Mack get up after the beating and dizzily stagger away. R. 328, l. 22 – 329, l. 7.

Kiki Burns (“Burns”) worked at the gas station across from Gonzales Gardens. R. 768, l. 25 – 829, l. 5. She witnessed the beating that took place near McDuffie Street. R. 830, l. 24 – 831, l. 10. Burns saw four or five people chasing Mack. R. 831, ll. 2 - 10. Mack tripped over something and fell. R. 831, ll. 17 – 21. The people chasing him then began to beat him. R. 831, ll. 22 – 24. In response to a question whether or not the men were “kicking and stomping” Mack, Burns said, “I just seen [them] all just getting on him.” R. 832, l. 2. She also saw a female participating in the beating. R. 832, ll. 6 – 12.

After the mob left, Mack “tried to stand up and he stumbled back down.” R. 832, ll. 20 – 23. Burns called 911 as a result of the incident. R. 839, ll. 10 – 21.

Testimony of Melquanna S.

Melquanna S. is Reese’s daughter. R. 757, ll. 5 – 13. On the afternoon of February 13, 2010, Melquanna S. was going to a manicurist. R. 758, ll. 15 – 17. The manicurist was very close to a convenience store where her mother was playing video poker. R. 758, l. 23 – 759, l. 10. She was thirteen years old at the time. R. 759, ll. 18 – 20.

The manicurist was closed, and as she was knocking, Melquanna S. heard Mack, who was say to her, “You can come in my house.” R. 760, ll. 14 – 23. Melquanna S.

did not know Mack.¹ R. 760, ll. 24 – 25. Mack was over thirty years old. R. 421; ll. 9 – 13. She went into the convenience store and bought some potato chips. R. 761, ll. 12 – 15. As she was walking home Mack again approached this young girl unbidden and asked for some chips. R. 761, ll. 17 – 19. Melquanna S. told him to leave her alone. R. 761, ll. 19 – 20. She tried to walk away from him but Mack continued to hinder her progress and then threw a snowball at her. R. 761, l. 17 – 762, l. 4. Melquanna S. told Mack that she was going to go get her mother and Mack grabbed her. R. 762, ll. 3 – 7. She hit Mack. He picked her up, threw her into the bushes, and they began to fight. R. 762, ll. 8 – 13.

With Mack on top of her, Melquanna S. saw Bloom tackle Mack and “hit him a couple of times.” R. 762, ll. 14 – 15. Other men came “and jumped on” Mack. R. 762, ll. 14 – 16. Melquanna S. hit Mack “a couple of times.” R. 762, ll. 20 – 25. Bloom took Melquanna S. back to the store and they told her mother what happened. R. 763, l. 8 – 764, l. 13. Reese took Melquanna S. back to their apartment in Gonzales Gardens. R. 764, ll. 14 – 17. Melquanna S. said that her mother went back to the store and played video poker the rest of the afternoon. R. 769, ll. 3 – 11.

¹ The medical testimony revealed Mack had been using marijuana and Ativan. R. 687, l. 1 – 688, l. 1.

Bloom's Testimony

Bloom lived next door to Reese and Melquanna S. for a couple of years in Gonzales Gardens. R. 393, l. 11 – 394, l. 4. He did not know Gray personally. R. 394, ll. 5 – 6. Bloom had never seen Mack before the day of the beating. R. 396, ll. 17 – 23.

Bloom claimed that he saw Mack “pick [Melquanna S.] up and slam her to the ground.” R. 396, ll. 11 – 16. Bloom claimed that he tackled Mack to get him off of Melquanna S. R. 398, ll. 4 – 13. Bloom was on top of Mack and hit him twice with a closed fist. R. 398, ll. 16 – 19. At this point, Bloom claimed that he was pulled off of Mack by Angelo “Little Ricky” Boyd (“Boyd”). R. 399, ll. 3 – 9. Bloom claimed that Mack then “got up and ran off.” R. 399, ll. 3 – 9. Bloom denied kicking Mack. R. 400, ll. 20 – 21. He also denied that anyone other than Melquanna S. joined in the fight. R. 400, ll. 12 – 16.

Bloom said that he took Melquanna S. into the convenience store to talk to Reese. R. 402, ll. 7 – 16. They told Reese what happened. R. 402, l. 24 – 403, l. 5. He claimed Reese was upset. R. 404, ll. 1 – 6. Bloom claimed that after Reese walked outside the store he saw her talking on her phone, but did not know who she called. R. 404, ll. 19 – 25.

Later that day, Bloom got a phone call from his brother telling him the police were looking for him. R. 409, l. 22 – 410, l. 7. The police called Bloom the next day and he went to the police station. R. 410, ll. 10 – 13. The police told Bloom they were investigating him for Mack's murder. R. 411, ll. 11 – 12. He was arrested.² R. 414, ll. 8

² In addition to the murder and lynching charges related to Mack's death, Bloom had pending charges for criminal domestic violence, malicious injury to property, possession of marijuana, and possession of marijuana with intent to distribute. R. 415, ll. 4 – 15.

– 9. After being arrested for murder, Bloom told police there had been a second attack on Mack. R. 430, ll. 18 – 22. He gave the police names of witnesses who saw the alleged second attack. R. 430, ll. 23 – 25. The names of those witnesses were Donetti Perry (“Perry”), Kara Chase (“Chase”), and Sanovia Thompson (“Thompson”). R. 433, ll. 4 – 15.

The Gonzales Gardens Witnesses

Bloom’s witnesses—Perry, Chase, and Thompson—did not approach police until after Bloom was arrested. R. 655, ll. 5 – 23. They were all interviewed within an hour of each other. R. 655, ll. 13 – 24.

Perry, who was twenty-eight years old at the time of the trial, testified that she was upset and scared to be in court. R. 117, ll. 22 – 23. She lived in Gonzales Gardens. R. 113, ll. 22 – 24. Perry was a friend of Bloom’s brother, Lamar a/k/a “Big Baby.” R. 144, l. 23 – 145, l. 2; R. 160, ll. 5 - 7. She also knew Bloom. R. 154, ll. 16 – 155, l. 16. She knew appellant Gray because his father’s apartment was across from her’s. R. 116, ll. 9 – 23.

Perry claimed she saw Mack and Gray having a conversation near her apartment. R. 115, ll. 19 – 23. Mack “looked like he’d been beat up or something.” R. 118, ll. 1 – 2. Gray supposedly asked Mack, “Man what happened to you?” R. 118, ll. 5 – 10. Perry claimed that Gray’s phone rang. R. 119, l. 21 – 120, l. 4. Perry then claimed that Gray swept Mack’s feet out from under him. R. 118, l. 14 – 119, l. 7. She said Mack fell and hit his head. R. 119, ll. 10 – 12. Gray supposedly began kicking Mack. R. 120, ll. 16 – 21. Perry also claimed that Reese arrived and joined in kicking Mack and also hit Mack repeatedly with a metal chair. R. 123, l. 17 – 124, l. 9; R. 125, ll. 9 – 13.

Thompson had been living in Gonzales Gardens for almost five years. R. 471, ll. 18 – 21. She was thirty-three years old. R. 471, ll. 16 – 17. She claimed that she saw Mack walking down the sidewalk while she was sweeping her steps. R. 473, l. 18 – 474, ll. 16. She did not know Mack. R. 474, ll. 22 – 23. She described him as having “a knot on his head” and that he was bleeding. She stated that Mack “was kind of like staggering like he might have been intoxicated.” R. 475, ll. 2 – 5. She said that Gray asked Mack “What happened to you?” and then Gray “went on about his business.” R. 475, ll. 18 – 20.

Thompson claimed Gray went into his father’s apartment because the phone was ringing. R. 477, ll. 16 – 20. Gray supposedly then came outside, grabbed Mack by the collar, and told him, “You put your hand on my niece. We’re going to talk to my sister.” R. 477, ll. 21 – 25. Thompson walked behind her building. R. 479, ll. 19 – 25. When she came around the other side, she saw Mack on the ground and Reese coming down the sidewalk. R. 480, ll. 22 – 25. Thompson claimed that Reese said “Why did you put your hand on my baby?” and then kicked Mack “on the leg one or two times.” R. 481, ll. 13 – 18. According to Thompson, Gray and Reese then walked away. R. 481, ll. 14 – 20. Thompson never saw anyone use a chair to hit Mack. R. 487, ll. 11 – 13.

Chase, who was blind by the time of trial, was homeless and living temporarily with Thompson on the day of Mack’s death. R. 473, ll. 7 – 13; R. 240, ll. 22 – 23; R. 233, ll. 2 – 5. She was thirty-two years old at the time of trial. R. 232, ll. 23 – 24. Chase did not approach the police until after the incident “because a friend of mine’s brother was being accused of a murder that I know he didn’t commit.” R. 253, l. 22 – 254, l. 2. That friend was Bloom. R. 254, ll. 3 – 4.

Chase testified that Mack was walking away with Gray when Gray tried to hit Mack and “pretty much almost missed. R. 238, l. 11 – 239 – 13. Chase said that Gray “did not kick the man down.” R. 239, ll. 16 – 18. She claimed that Mack “lost his balance” and then fell. R. 239, ll. 18 – 22. She saw Mack move around as if to defend himself. R. 240, ll. 1 – 5. The solicitor, using a prior statement, attempted to get Chase to admit that Mack never got up after his initial fall, but Chase rebuffed her. R. 244, l. 21 – 245, l. 3. Chase testified “He did get up after that. I told the police that. I told investigators that. He did get up from that spot and move, he never stayed right there on that sidewalk.” R. 244, l. 25 – 245, l. 3. Chase said that Gray “walked off” after Mack fell. R. 240, ll. 11 – 18. Chase denied the contents of a written statement that she gave the police which described a further assault by Gray and Reese on Mack. R. 245, l. 4 – 253, l. 2.

Several other witnesses from Gonzales Gardens testified. Isaac Weathers saw the fight that occurred near the convenience store. R. 493, ll. 18 – 19. He saw Mack and Melquanna S. arguing. R. 493, ll. 20 – 22. They both fell to the ground. R. 493, ll. 20 – 22. At this point “a few guys” jumped on Mack. R. 494, ll. 9 – 14. Weathers saw a bunch of people kicking Mack. R. 496, ll. 10 – 11. Weathers said that the people who were kicking Mack were people he knew by their nicknames. R. 505, ll. 9 – 11. The people he saw the beating Mack were: Trigger, Little Ricky, Juve, and Bloom. R. 505, ll. 13 – 21. After the beating, he saw all of them go into the store. R. 506, ll. 7 – 9. Weathers never saw Gray. R. 507, ll. 9 – 11.

Mary Anderson knew Mack from a barber shop where he worked. R. 190, ll. 3 – 7. Anderson knew Bloom because he was friends with her brother. R. 210, ll. 13 – 23.

She was convicted of fraud in 2009. R. 200, ll. 2 – 4. She claimed that she witnessed a second assault during which Gray and Reese kicked and stomped Mack. R. 189, ll. 8 – 13.

Boyd, Bloom's friend, testified that he saw Bloom tackle Mack. R. 85, ll. 19 – 25. Boyd went to Bloom's aid. R. 85, ll. 20 – 25. Boyd and Bloom told Melquanna S. to hit Mack, which she did. R. 85, l. 19 – 247, l. 25. Boyd, who was wearing Timberland boots, **kicked Mack in the head.** R. 99, l. 21 – 100, l. 5. Boyd claimed that Mack walked away from the fight. R. 88, ll. 8 – 15.

The Medical Testimony

Three pathologists all agreed that the cause of Mack's death was blunt force trauma to the head. R. 534, ll. 14 – 20; R. 685, ll. 3 – 7; R. 749, l. 8 – 750, l. 25. Gray's pathologist, Dr. Adel Shaker, testified that the blunt force trauma could not have been caused by a metal chair because it would have caused extensive lacerations of the scalp. R. 692, ll. 6 – 23. Dr. Shaker also explained that even after a severe brain injury, a person can have a "lucid interval," during which that person can walk, talk, or do other activities for up to one hour after the injury. R. 694, ll. 8 – 14. The lucid interval occurs because it takes time for blood to accumulate and create pressure on the brain stem. R. 694, ll. 15 – 22. Pressure on Mack's brain stem led to herniation in the brain which stopped his respiratory or cardiac activity. R. 694, ll. 15 – 25. Dr. Shaker confirmed the State's pathologist's finding that marijuana and Ativan were present in Mack's system. R. 687, l. 1 – 688, l. 1. Dr. Shaker testified that the combination of these two drugs depresses the central nervous system and can affect a person's balance. R. 688, ll. 12 – 22.

The State's pathologist, Dr. Bradley Marcus, performed the autopsy on Mack. R. 517, l. 16 – 518, l. 9. Marcus began describing his findings using two diagrams depicting Mack's injuries. R. 518, l. 10 – 519, l. 6; (Exhibits 86, 87). These diagrams were entered into evidence without any objection. R. 518, l. 10 – 519, l. 6; (Exhibits 86, 87). Exhibit 86 depicts front and rear views of the human body with notations describing various injuries that Mack received. (Exhibit 86).

Dr. Marcus explained what is depicted in Exhibit 87. R. 522, l. 1 – 524, l. 9. Exhibit 87 shows what, at first glance, appears to be a mask over a person's face. (Exhibit 87). Dr. Marcus explained it is not a mask:

We concentrate on the head. The way we do the head is, to preserve the body for the funeral, we make an incision along the back of the scalp here. We very carefully reflect the scalp. We pull the scalp over this way. You just literally just pull it over and that's what you're actually seeing here. That's a side view of the head just pull it over and pull it back here. We can actually put it all right back together and you can't tell in the funeral home.

It actually makes it very nice so that you can see trauma. What we have is we have the scalp and it is reflected. This skull is here, the scalp is here. We can see here, we've got some pretty good – and this is just my markings – scamp [sic]. We call it reflective. The skull is here. The scalp is here. We can see here [we've got] some pretty good – these are just my markings showing hemorrhage along the scalp here. Think of it being the right side here, where that bruise I explained to you was – right here. Underneath the skin there is corresponding hemorrhage there, confirming my findings from the outside underneath there. Confirming what I saw. That all confirms that.

There is also some hemorrhage back here on the skull area here. I call ... this pericranial. Peri means surrounding the skull, "peri" surrounding the skull. It's back here.

Now there's also some hemorrhage on the back here of the skull, also on the back of the scalp back here.

Also there some more hemorrhage, not a lot, on the other side of the head – on the left side. So, again, he had some sort of traumatic event

that occurred right here. You can't see anything on the outside that he had some traumatic injury over here. Okay?

R. 522, ll. 7 – 523, l. 19. The solicitor then attempted to introduce autopsy photographs into evidence. R. 524, ll. 2 – 3. Counsel for Gray asked to see them and then objected. R. 525, ll. 4 – 5; R. 525, ll. 7 – 9. Reese's counsel joined in the objection, stating that the photographs were "highly prejudicial to our clients," and that the pathologist could illustrate the autopsy through his own testimony. R. 525, ll. 12 – 17. Gray's attorney attempted to add to this objection when Judge Cooper sent the jury out of the courtroom. R. 525, ll. 18 – 25.

The solicitor then proffered Dr. Marcus's testimony regarding the autopsy photographs. R. 526, l. 2 – 532, l. 5. Among these photographs were Exhibits 80 to 83. R. 529, ll. 6 – 14. Exhibits 80 through 83 are gruesome photographs of the autopsy of Mack's head. (Exhibits 80 – 83). Exhibits 80 and 83 show a hand holding the top of Mack's sawed-off, bloody skull with his brain completely exposed. (Exhibits 80, 83). Mack's brain protrudes from his open skull like a red tip from a tube of lipstick. (Exhibit 83). Exhibit 81 shows Mack's scalp pulled down over his face and the back part of his scalp pulled away from his skull. (Exhibit 81). What is depicted in Exhibit 81 is barely recognizable as human. (Exhibit 81).

Dr. Marcus told the court these photographs were necessary because they depicted the cause of death and he could not diagram them. R. 529, ll. 12 – 14. During the proffer, Gray's attorney asked the following:

MR. CHAPLIN: As far as those photographs are concerned, what they show is the trauma that you just discussed, correct?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

MR. CHAPLIN: All right. But you can't testify as to the cause of that trauma?

THE WITNESS: I can testify that blunt trauma caused the trauma.

MR. CHAPLIN: Okay.

THE WITNESS: Blunt trauma.

MR. CHAPLIN: But you couldn't say specifically when the trauma occurred?

THE WITNESS: No. I can't say when it occurred.

MR. CHAPLIN: You can't say the location that it occurred?

THE WITNESS: I can't say the location, no.

MR. CHAPLIN: You just know that it is blunt force trauma?

THE WITNESS: Yes, blunt force trauma.

MR. CHAPLIN: And that would be the extent of your presentation?

THE WITNESS: I believe so, yes.

R. 531, ll. 1 – 25. Without hearing any further argument, Judge Cooper overruled the defendant's objection to the admission of these photographs. R. 532, ll. 2 – 3.

When the jury returned, Dr. Marcus then used Exhibit 87 – the diagram of Mack's head – to explain the location of a skull fracture and a brain hemorrhage. R. 535, l. 20 – 536, l. 9. Still referring to the diagram, Dr. Marcus opined that a significant amount of force would be necessary to cause this kind of skull fracture. R. 536, ll. 10 – 12. Without referring to the photographs, Dr. Marcus then explained that once he looked inside Mack's skull at his brain he saw subdural hemorrhages and cerebral contusions. R. 536, l. 21 – 537, l. 15. Dr. Marcus said that blunt trauma causes these injuries "when the brain bangs up against the skull itself." R. 537, ll. 16 – 24.

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