**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No.: 2012-209426

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

HENRY GRAY,

APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar #4806

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit  
Post Office Box 192  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-0192

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

Dr. Marcus utilized **State's Exhibits 80-83** to illustrate the injuries to the victim's brain that he found. He explained that **State's Exhibit 81** was a photograph of how the scalp looked when the brain was exposed and it "shows some of the area of hemorrhage of the area of the brain." In a normal brain, this "area should be clean with no hemorrhage or anything to that area at all." **R. pp. 538-39.** He apparently used the remaining photographs, although not specifically identified on the record, to demonstrate the remaining brain injuries that he found. **R. pp. 539-41.**<sup>4</sup>

## **B. Discussion.**

Gray is not entitled to relief. "The State has the right to prove every element of the crime charged and is not obligated to rely upon a defendant's stipulation." *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 249, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *State v. Johnson*, 338 S.C. 114, 122, 525 S.E.2d 519, 523 (2000)). "The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as

---

<sup>3</sup> **State's Exhibits 56-57** depict the injuries to victim's back and legs, respectively, and neither exhibit is even remotely prejudicial.

<sup>4</sup> **State's Exhibit 82** depicts the injuries to the left side of the victim's face before the autopsy and is not prejudicial. **State's Exhibit 80** depicts the subdural hemorrhaging and **State's Exhibit 83**, shows the exposed brain and contusions and bleeding on the brain.

evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Nance*, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996); *State v. Todd*, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 340 (1986).<sup>5</sup>

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003); *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991). “To constitute unfair prejudice, the photographs must create a ‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (1995) (quoting *Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 377, 401 S.E.2d at 149). A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 357, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593 (Ct.App. 2001), overruled on other grounds, *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). Further, “[i]f the offered photograph[s] serve[] to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit [them].” *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) (quoting *Nance*, 320 S.C. at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353).

In the present case, the trial judge admitted the photographs, **State’s Exhibits 80-83**, over the defendants’ objection that they were prejudicial and that they were unnecessary, since the testimony of Dr. Marcus adequately described the injuries that he found on autopsy. Respondent submits that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by rejecting the Rule 403 argument made by Reese.

First, **State’s Exhibits 80-83** were extremely probative since they depicted the serious and fatal injuries suffered by the victim that were found on autopsy. The photographs thereby corroborated the findings of both of the State’s pathologists about the cause of death. *See Torres*,

---

<sup>5</sup> All relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE.

390 S.C. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 229; *Nance*, 320 S.C. at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353. Although Dr. Marcus' opinion was that he could not determine in which of the two incidents the fatal injury occurred based upon his autopsy findings, he opined that the injury causing the cerebral contusion and the hemorrhaging would require a "[s]ignificant amount of force." He further opined that it was "[a]bsolutely" consistent with a person having his feet swept out from under him and landing on his head. **R. pp. 535-36; 540-48; 555.**

In reply, Dr. Clay Nichols, the former chief medical examiner for Richland County when the autopsy was performed, testified that he had reviewed the autopsy procedures followed by Dr. Marcus and concluded that the autopsy was correctly performed. **R. pp. 843-46.** Also, Dr. Nichols had reviewed Dr. Marcus' findings and the history that had been provided. He opined that "[t]he timeline and injuries indicate that it would have been a second assault where the deceased fell and hit the concrete, resulting in closed head injury. The first assault, the evidence isn't there for a head injury. The second assault, there is real good evidence for a head injury." **R. p. 847, lines 8-15.**

Thus, the photographs were also relevant to prove the cause of death and to circumstantially negate that the cause of death was the result of any acts by Reese and or Gray that were not malicious. This is particularly true in light of the degree of force required in order for the blunt force trauma to have been inflicted. The State had the burden of proof and had the right to prove its case in the manner it chose, rather than solely relying upon Dr. Marcus' expert testimony. *See Martucci*, 380 S.C. at 249, 669 S.E.2d at 607.

Secondly, and despite Gray's hyperbole as to what is depicted in the photographs, the photographs were presented in the course of the Dr. Marcus' clinically scientific and almost educational discussion of his findings. For most of the photographs, he explained precisely what

was depicted and why the matter depicted in the photograph was significant. Thirdly, Dr. Marcus' *in camera* testimony was clear: he thought that all of the selected photographs were necessary to fully illustrate and depict his findings. These findings were not something that he could clearly convey to the jury by a diagram.

Fourth, both Reese and Gray had chosen to make the cause of death and when the cause of death was inflicted issues in the case. Each defendant retained and presented a pathologist who offered differing opinions of what was revealed by the autopsy. As the Assistant Solicitor correctly observed during the *in camera* proffer, because of the position taken by Reese and Gray with respect to what the autopsy showed, the jury needed to have a clear understanding of precisely what injuries the victim sustained, "perhaps more than [in] any other [case]." **R. p. 526, line 12 – p. 527, line 2.** Having elected to base her defense, in part, upon a challenge to the findings on autopsy, Reese should not be heard to complain that the State was allowed to introduce photographs that the State's expert testified were necessary to illustrate his findings.

Fifth, both defense pathologists relied upon the autopsy photographs in reaching a conclusion of the cause of death and the timing of when that injury was received. **R. pp. 689-90; 700; 730; 735; 748; 750-51.** Reese's pathologist was somewhat critical of the photographs because the failure to include a ruler in them was not according to the protocol of the National Association of Medical Examiners. **R. p. 689, line 15 - p. 690, line 4.** However, he quickly added, "Otherwise [these] are beautiful pictures and good ones." **R. p. 690, lines 4-5.**

Given the manner in which the photographs were presented and the testimony about what they depict, Respondent submits that they did not create a "tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one." *Kelley*, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71; *Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 377, 401 S.E.2d at 149. Particularly in this day and

age, where forensic matters are graphically shown in popular prime time television programs like C.S.I. and its progeny, the jurors simply would not be so shocked by these photographs that they would have rendered a verdict based on an emotional basis. Rather, they would have understood that the autopsy was a necessary and indispensable process to determine the cause of death. In other words, the photographs were relevant and necessary, and they were not introduced with the intent to inflame, elicit the sympathy of, or prejudice the jury. *Id.* See also *Martucci*, 380 S.C. at 249-50, 669 S.E.2d at 607-08 .

Additionally, the photographs complained of here, specifically **State's Exhibits 80-83**, were not beyond "**the outer limits of what our law permits a jury to consider.**" See *State v. Collins*, 398 S.C. 197, 210, 727 S.E.2d 751, 758 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing *Torres*, 390 S.C. at 624, 703 S.E.2d at 229) (emphasis in original). In *Collins*, this Court found that the probative value of photographs of the 10-year-old child's partially eaten face and body, taken by a forensic pathologist before he performed an autopsy on child killed by dogs, was substantially outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice. *Collins*, 398 S.C. at 202-10, 727 S.E.2d at 754-58.

The defendant in *Collins* was charged with involuntary manslaughter and three counts of owning a dangerous animal. This Court found that the photographs in *Collins* added little to the testimony of witnesses; the issues to which the photographs related involved the conduct of defendant's dogs, as opposed to the defendant's own conduct; and that they were not material to the issues of defendant's conduct and whether his conduct was criminal. Also, this Court found that the photographs were graphic and shocking; that they prompted an intense emotional response; and that they had an overwhelming capacity to lure the jury into declaring guilt on the emotional basis of sympathy for the child and his mother, as well as horror at the sight of the child's body.

Unlike the photographs in *Collins*, however, the photographs in this case were material to the issues of cause of death, the timing of the cause of death and whether the injuries were inflicted maliciously. Further, the photographs here depicted injuries that the State alleged were caused by the Gray and or Reese, while acting as accomplices. The photographs are not of injuries caused by dogs, or anyone or anything but the actions of Reese and Gray.

Also, the photographs were not inflammatory simply because they were taken at autopsy or because they were “graphic.” To the contrary, both this Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court have upheld the introduction of autopsy photographs or graphic crime scene photographs that pass a Rule 403 analysis in a number of cases. *See, e.g., State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76 (1998) (photographs of various bone and bomb fragments and clothing found at crime scene were admissible in murder prosecution, despite claim that, because victim's body was found in woods 46 days after crime was committed, weather or local fauna could have altered crime scene during that period; photographs corroborated other testimony concerning condition of victim's body as first discovered by police at crime scene, and location of bone and bomb fragments supported testimony that bomb had been detonated in victim's mouth); *Martucci*, 380 S.C. at 249-50, 669 S.E.2d at 607-08 (upholding admitting autopsy photographs of child victim's internal organs and other injuries); *State v. Todd*, 290 S.C. at 214, 349 S.E.2d at 340 (black and white photograph of the victim's right upper chest with the breast exposed showing the location of the bullet wound was admissible to corroborate pathologist's testimony regarding location of wound, and did not prejudice defendant, since there was explicit testimony that victim's blouse and brassiere had been removed by medical personnel when they arrived at scene in order to administer medical assistance); *State v. Jarrell*, 350 S.C. 90, 106, 564 S.E.2d 362, 371 (Ct. App. 2002) (upholding the admission of graphic autopsy photographs in homicide

by child abuse case because they corroborated testimony and demonstrated the extent of the injuries); *State v. Ward*, 374 S.C. 606, 613, 649 S.E.2d 145, 149 (Ct. App. 2007) (upholding trial court's finding that probative value of two photographs illustrating graze wounds on the victim's back outweighed their prejudicial effect, since the jury's knowledge of the graze wound was necessary to rebut the defense's arguments about the angle of the shot); *State v Dial*, \_\_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_, Op. No. 5157, 2013 WL 3456559 (Ct.App., Jul 10, 2013) (probative value of three autopsy photographs of five-month-old victim's head injuries was not outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice in prosecution for homicide by child abuse; where photographs were introduced to corroborate testimony of forensic pathologist who performed autopsy that victim's various injuries were inconsistent with an accidental injury as defendant claimed had occurred, and they were highly probative of whether victim was abused and whether abuse was cause of his death, both integral elements of charged offense); *State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 121, 481 S.E.2d 118, 124 (1997) (admitting a photograph of the victim's face because it demonstrated the angle and distance from which the victim was shot).

Finally, any error in the introduction of these photographs must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since their introduction could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) ("Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial"); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result"). At worst, these photographs were cumulative to the other expert testimony concerning the victim's injuries. *See State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 79, 480

S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) ("Even if the descriptive testimony of the prosecution's witnesses adequately conveyed the brutality and malice of the crime and these photographs were unnecessary, they were harmless surplusage") (citing *State v. Robinson*, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587 (1942) (finding the photographs unnecessary but harmless because they were not prejudicial or inflammatory)).

In addition to the previously stated reasons, there was overwhelming evidence of Gray's and Reese's guilt, both individually and under a theory of accomplice liability. This evidence is discussed in **Argument II**, *infra*. On the other hand, Gray did not challenge that the injuries occurred, but when they occurred. He did this through Dr. Shaker's expert testimony that the fatal blow could have occurred in the first beating and the victim had a lucid interval in which he was ambulatory and could communicate. He also benefited from and relied upon Reese's testimony that she and Gray did not have any contact with the victim until after he was lying motionless on the ground. Also, neither she nor Gray did anything that could have caused the victim's death.

Under these circumstances any error must be viewed as harmless. Therefore, Gray's argument is without merit and there was no abuse of discretion.

**II. Assuming *arguendo* that the Court finds Gray's argument preserved for appellate review, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by denying Gray's request to charge the jury on involuntary manslaughter because there was no evidence presented at trial that supported this instruction.**

Gray's remaining argument is that the trial judge erred by refusing his request for a jury instruction on involuntary manslaughter, as a lesser-included offense of murder.<sup>6</sup> On appeal, he argues for the first time that involuntary manslaughter should have been charged because "there

---

<sup>6</sup> Thus, this allegation has no bearing on his conviction and sentence for lynching in the first degree.

was evidence from which the jury could have concluded that co-defendant Reese and Gray, under the hand of one is the hand of all theory argued by the prosecution, were engaged in an unlawful assault and battery, not of a character of itself to cause death, but which resulted in the unintentional killing of Mack, without malice.” Respondent submits that this argument is not preserved for appellate review because he did not present the same argument to, and obtain a ruling on it from, the trial judge. Alternatively, Respondent submits that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by denying Gray’s request to charge the jury on involuntary manslaughter because there was no evidence presented at trial that supported this instruction.

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